# NO. 23-CV-0977



# DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

Clerk of the Court Received 11/13/2024 07:41 PM Resubmitted 11/14/2024 11:03 AM Resubmitted 11/14/2024 01:25 PM

# TYROSHI INVESTMENTS, LLC,

Appellant,

v.

U.S. BANK, N.A., SUCCESSOR TRUSTEE TO LASALLE BANK, N.A.,

Appellee.

Appeal from the District of Columbia Superior Court 2020-CA-001727-B (Honorable Robert Rigsby)

### **BRIEF OF APPELLANT TYROSHI INVESTMENTS, LLC**

November 14, 2024

\*Ian G. Thomas (Bar No.1021680) Tracy L. Buck (Bar No. 1021540) OFFIT KURMAN 1325 G Street NW, Suite 500 Washington, DC 20005 (202) 900-8592 (202) 900-8597 ithomas@offitkurman.com tracy.buck@offitkurman.com

#### **INTRODUCTION**

The present appeal is a tale of two foreclosures. The first foreclosure was of a super priority condominium lien pursuant to D.C. Code § 42-1903.13 and, at that foreclosure, Appellant Tyroshi Investments, LLC ("Tyroshi") was the wining bidder. This foreclosure took place in 2014 <u>prior</u> to this Court's seminal decision in *Chase Plaza Condo. Ass'n, Inc. v. JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.*, 98 A.3d 166 (D.C. 2014), which confirmed that a super-priority lien foreclosure extinguishes a first deed of trust that is encumbering the property. Thus, at the time of the foreclosure, it was unclear as to whether Tyroshi purchased a property that was subject to a first deed of trust, but ultimately, it was determined that Tyroshi's title was free and clear of any encumbrances.

The second foreclosure occurred two years later in 2016. This foreclosure, which was of the same condominium unit, was pursuant to the power of sale contained a first deed of trust. At that sale, Appellee U.S. Bank Trust, N.A. ("US Bank"), who was the owner of the deed of trust being foreclosed upon, purchased the condominium unit for a credit bid and accepted a deed that purported to vest it with title. However, based on this Court's ruling in *Chase Plaza*, the deed of trust that US Bank foreclosed upon had already been extinguished and thus the foreclosure US Bank conducted was invalid as a matter of law.

Four years later, US Bank, for the first time, challenged Tyroshi's title to the condominium unit in question. US Bank's challenge was based <u>solely</u> on equitable grounds and premised on the claim that Tyroshi had purchased the condominium unit for an unconscionably low sales price. After nearly three years of litigating these equitable claims, on the eve of trial, US Bank for the first time alleged that Tyroshi's purchase should be invalided under a federal statute that is colloquially referred to as the Federal Foreclosure Bar (12 U.S.C. § 4617(j)(3)). After initially denying US Bank's request to pursue the cause of action, the lower court ultimately (and without warning) allowed US Bank to assert the claim at trial.

At the conclusion of trial, the lower court entered judgment in favor of US Bank and voided Tyroshi's purchase of the condominium at issue. In doing so, the Court failed to correctly assess the timeliness of US Bank's claims and made significant legal errors concerning the application of the Federal Foreclosure Bar and this Court's post-*Chase Plaza* jurisprudence. As discussed more herein, each of these errors in and of themselves requires reversal of the judgment below.

#### STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. WERE US BANK'S CLAIMS AGAINST TYROSHI UNTIMELY UNDER THE RELEVANT STATUTES OF LIMITATIONS.
- II. DID US BANK HAVE STANDING TO ASSERT THE FEDERAL FORECLOSURE BAR AND WAS THE STATUTE EVEN APPLICABLE TO THE SALE OF PROPERTY THAT WAS NOT OWNED BY THE FEDERAL NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION.

- III. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN HOLDING THAT TYROSHI'S PURCHASE PRICE WAS UNCONSCIONABLE UNDER THIS COURT'S DECISIONS IN *RFB PROPERTIES II* AND ITS PROGENY.
- IV. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN HOLDING THAT TYROSHI'S FAILURE TO RECORD ITS DEED RENDERED US BANK A BONA FIDE PURCHASER AT ITS SUBSEQUENT FORECLOSURE AND THUS VESTED IT WITH SUPERIOR TITLE TO THE UNIT.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The present appeal arises out of competing claims for title to a condominium unit located at 1391 Pennsylvania Avenue SE, Unit 366, Washington, DC 20003 ("Unit") that was the subject of two separate foreclosures. As discussed in more detail below, the first foreclosure occurred in June 2014 and was on a super-priority condominium lien pursuant to D.C. Code § 42-1903.13. JA 936-937. The second foreclosure occurred in 2016 and was a judicial foreclosure sale conducted by a first deed of trust holder. JA 950; JA 1004. The baseline question in the trial court was whether the 2014 super-priority lien foreclosure extinguished the first deed of trust that encumbered the Unit and thus rendered the subsequent foreclosure invalid as a matter of law.

This matter was commenced on March 11, 2020, when Tyroshi filed a Complaint and request for Temporary Restraining Order against the Jenkins Row Condominium Unit Owner's Association ("Association"), alleging that it had wrongfully evicted Tyroshi from the Unit. In response, the Association took the position that, *inter alia*, it was justified in its steps to prohibit Tyroshi from accessing the Unit because Tyroshi was not its actual owner, and that title to the Unit was instead vested with US Bank. JA 22.<sup>1</sup>

On September 17, 2020, US Bank filed a Motion to Intervene in this matter seeking a declaration that it was the true owner of the Unit and quieting title to the Unit in its favor against Tyroshi. JA 41 ("Third Party Complaint"). In doing so, the Third Party Complaint asserted five claims against both Tyroshi and the Association:

- <u>Count I</u>: quieting title on the grounds that the sale to Tyroshi was unlawful and void under D.C. Code § 42-1903.13;
- (2) <u>Count II</u>: seeking declaratory relief that the sale to Tyroshi was void because the sale was "commercially unreasonable" based on the sales price;
- (3) <u>Count III</u>: seeking declaratory relief that Tyroshi's deed was ineffective against US Bank because it was unrecorded at the time that US Bank purchased the Unit;
- (4) <u>Count IV</u>: declaring that D.C Code § 42-1903.13 was unconstitutional<sup>2</sup>; and
- (5) <u>Count V</u>: seeking alternate relief under a theory of unjust enrichment for amounts paid by US Bank to the Association when it believed it was the owner of the Unit.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Tyroshi's wrongful eviction claims against the Association were ultimately dismissed by the lower court and this court affirmed the dismissal on appeal in a per curium opinion. The issues on this appeal solely focus on the claims assert between US Bank and Tyroshi.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The record below indicates that US Bank abandoned this claim as it was not raised in summary judgment briefing, in the parties' Joint Pretrial Statement, or at trial.

JA 59. As discussed more *infra*, the Third Party Complaint did not reference any federal statute prohibiting the sale to Tyroshi, nor does it reference Federal National Mortgage Association ("Fannie Mae") at all. The lower court granted US Bank's request to intervene on October 21, 2020, and the Third Party Complaint was deemed filed as of the date of the Order. JA 201.

On November 12, 2020, the Association moved to dismiss US Bank's Third Party Complaint on the grounds that the claims against the Association were barred by the three-year statute of limitations. JA 204. US Bank opposed, arguing that its claims were not time-barred because the appropriate limitations period was either the 15-year limitations period that governed the recovery of lands in D.C. Code § 12-301(a)(1) or the 12-year limitations period for instruments under seal pursuant to D.C. Code § 12-301(a)(6). JA 243.

On January 13, 2021, the trial court granted the Association's motion to dismiss finding that US Bank's claims that sought to invalidate the sale to Tyroshi were time-barred. JA 287. The lower court expressly rejected US Bank's argument that the limitations period was either a 12-year period for instruments under seal or a 15-year period to reclaim lands. JA 291-295. Instead, the lower court applied the three-year limitations period that governs wrongful foreclosure claims. *Id.* The lower court went on to find that US Bank was on inquiry notice of its claims as early

as April 29, 2014, the date that the Association recorded its notice of foreclosure, at which time its claims began to accrue. *Id*.

With only Tyroshi and US Bank remaining in the case, on March 18, 2022, Tyroshi and US Bank filed cross motions for summary judgment against one another. JA 321; JA 481. In support of its motion for summary judgment, Tyroshi argued that US Bank's claims were time-barred and that the Association's foreclosure extinguished US Bank's deed of trust consistent with *Chase Plaza* and its progeny. JA 481. Conversely, US Bank argued that it was entitled to summary judgment because Tyroshi's corporate registration was revoked at the time of its purchase of the Unit and thus, Tyroshi was unable to purchase the Unit as a matter of law.<sup>3</sup> JA 321. US Bank also argued that the sale was void because Tyroshi paid an unconscionably low sales price. *Id.* On August 1, 2022, the trial court denied each of the cross dispositive motions, but did not address Tyroshi's statute of limitations argument in its Order. *Compare* JA 481 *with* JA 599.<sup>4</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> This argument was US Bank's primary argument for a majority of the time that this case was pending in the lower court. However, while the case was pending but before trial, this Court rendered its decision in *RFB Properties, LLC v. Fed. Nat'l Mortg. Ass'n*, 284 A.3d 381, 385 (D.C. 2022), which expressly rejected this argument. After the decision in the aforementioned case, US Bank stopped attacking Tyroshi's title to the Unit based on a lack of registration and the lower court did not rely on that fact in entering judgment after trial.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> In light of the decision in *RFB Properties, LLC v. Fed. Nat'l Mortg. Ass'n, see supra,* Tyroshi submitted a renewed motion for summary judgment on January 6, 2023, which the lower court also denied. This order also failed to consider the limitations issue. JA 705.

On June 29, 2023, the parties submitted a Joint Pretrial Statement to court in preparation for trial. JA 718. In its portions of the Joint Pretrial Statement, US Bank expressly stated that it was seeking to void Tyroshi's purchase of the Unit because the purchase price was unconscionably low, and that US Bank had superior title to the Unit because Tyroshi's deed was unrecorded at the time that US Bank recorded its deed. JA 721. Critically, US Bank did not include a single reference to any federal statute, any statute preventing the sale to Tyroshi, and did not reference the fact that Fannie Mae owned the subject loan at the time of Tyroshi's purchase. JA 718. Stated differently, the "Federal Foreclosure Bar" (defined below), and any factual element to support a claim thereunder, was not included in the Joint Pretrial Statement. *Id.* 

On July 28, 2023, US Bank filed a Motion to Amend its Third Party Complaint. JA 754. The proposed pleading, which was filed three days before the start of trial, asserted for the first time that Fannie Mae was the owner of the subject loan at the time that Tyroshi purchased the Unit. US Bank further argued that, as a result Fannie Mae's ownership, Tyroshi's purchase of the Unit was barred by 12 U.S.C. § 4617(j)(3), which is commonly referred to as the Federal Foreclosure Bar (hereinafter, "Federal Foreclosure Bar"). JA 769. US Bank never previously indicated that Fannie Mae was the prior owner of the subject loan and there is no recorded assignment in the District of Columbia land records showing Fannie Mae's ownership interest.<sup>5</sup> Likewise, US Bank never asserted the Federal Foreclosure Bar as a basis for any of its claims nor had it attempted to add Fannie Mae as a party to the case. *See, e.g.,* JA 41; JA 243; JA 313; JA 321; JA 501; JA 544; JA 634; JA 718.

That same day, Tyroshi filed a Motion to Preclude Claim, which sought to preclude US Bank from asserting the Federal Foreclosure Bar as a claim at trial. JA 849. The motion argued that US Bank had never previously raised the Federal Foreclosure Bar as a claim and to allow such a claim on the eve of trial would be "highly prejudicial" to Tyroshi. As a result, Tyroshi expressly requested that US Bank be precluded "from asserting at trial a claim that the foreclosure sale at which Tyroshi purchased the [Unit] was ineffective due to a violation of the Federal Foreclosure Bar." *Id.* 

That same day, the lower court denied US Bank's Motion to Amend the Third Party Complaint. JA 854. In doing so, the lower court found that US Bank's attempt to change the operative pleading at the eleventh hour was prejudicial to Tyroshi. *Id*. The lower court also denied Tyroshi's Motion to Preclude Claim as "moot" based on its denial of US Bank's request to amend. *Id*.

On July 31, 2023, a bench trial commenced in this matter. JA 1251. At trial, US Bank called four witnesses who testified to the foreclosure process through

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> One of US Bank's witnesses would go on to testify at trial that Fannie Mae intentionally conceals its ownership interest and intentionally does not record documents demonstrating that it is the owner of a loan. JA 1299-1304.

which US Bank purchased its interest in the subject loan and the Unit, that Fannie Mae was the owner of subject loan at the time Tyroshi purchased the Unit, and who opined on what the fair market value of the Unit was at the time it was sold to Tyroshi. *See generally* JA 1251-1722. Tyroshi offered one witness, its managing member, who testified about the how Tyroshi valued the Unit at the time of purchase and the facts surrounding Tyroshi's purchase. *Id*.

On October 24, 2023, the lower court (Judge Rigsby) rendered its decision on the merits of the dispute.<sup>6</sup> JA 2086. In doing so, the lower court rejected Tyroshi's argument that US Bank's claims were time-barred under the three-year statute of limitations. Instead, the lower court found that US Bank's claims were subject to the 15-year statute of limitations for the reclamation of lands under D.C. Code § 12-301(a)(1). JA 2100. The decision of the lower court was inconsistent with its previous ruling in which it applied a three-year statute of limitation to dismiss the exact same causes of action that US Bank had asserted against the Association. JA 287.

The lower court went on to find that Fannie Mae was the owner of the Loan from 2009-2015, and that as a result, the Association's foreclosure was barred by the Federal Foreclosure Bar. JA 2090-93. The lower court reached this ruling despite

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The October 24, 2023 ruling is an amended order, which was purportedly amended to correct a scrivener's error.

the fact that it denied US Bank's request to amend to incorporate that claim and that it denied Tyroshi's motion to preclude the claim as "moot." The rationale provided by the lower court for this ruling was that the application of the Federal Foreclosure Bar was simply a theory in support of US Bank's claims for declaratory relief and thus, it was not required to be pled under SCR-Civ. 8(a).

Notwithstanding the trial court's finding that the Association's sale to Tyroshi was void under the Federal Foreclosure Bar, the trial court proceeded to analyze the other arguments that were raised by the parties. In doing so, the lower court found that the sale of the Unit to Tyroshi was void due to an unconscionably low sales price. JA 2093. The lower court also found that US Bank was a bona fide purchaser of the Unit and had superior title to Tyroshi because US Bank recorded its deed before Tyroshi. JA 2094. Finally, the lower court reasoned that because Tyroshi had not recorded its deed at the time of US Bank's foreclosure, it was not entitled to notice of the foreclosure sale to US Bank nor was it required to be named as a party in any foreclosure proceeding. The lower court reached this conclusion notwithstanding the fact that US Bank admittedly knew of Tyroshi's interest in the Unit during the pendency of its foreclosure action. Based on these findings, the lower court entered judgment in favor of US Bank.

On November 14, 2023, Tyroshi timely filed a notice of appeal from the trial court's judgment. JA 2103.

#### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

#### A. Purchase of the Condominium Unit

On September 28, 2007, Diana Gaines purchased the Unit which is located in the Jenkins Row Condominium Building. *See* JA 59. Ms. Gaines financed her purchase of the Unit through a loan from First Savings Mortgage Corporation, which was memorialized in a promissory note ("Note") in the amount of \$271,100. JA 862. The Note was secured by a Deed of Trust ("Deed of Trust") that was recorded amongst the District of Columbia Land Records on October 5, 2007. JA 865. The Note and the Deed of Trust are each signed under seal, and collectively referred to hereinafter as the "Loan."

After extending the Loan to Ms. Gaines, on July 6, 2009, First Savings Mortgage Corporation assigned the Loan to Wells Fargo, which serviced the loan on behalf of Fannie Mae. JA 2087. Fannie Mae was the owner of the Loan from 2009-2015. *Id.* While it owned the Loan, Fannie Mae received monthly reports on the Loan and monitored it regularly. JA 1308; JA 2087. In late 2015, the Loan was subsequently transferred from Fannie Mae to US Bank. JA 1355-58.

#### B. Ms. Gaines Defaults on Condominium Obligations

The Association governs the Jenkins Row Condominium pursuant to the Jenkins Row Bylaws ("Bylaws"), a copy of which is recorded amongst the District of Columbia Land Records. JA 104. Among the Association's responsibilities is to

ensure the financial security of the Jenkins Row building. In furtherance of that obligation, the Bylaws allow for the Association to impose a monthly assessment upon each unit in the Jenkins Row Condominium to collect funds necessary to maintain and operate the building. If an owner defaults on their obligation to pay monthly assessments, the Association is vested with a lien on the delinquent owner's unit, which can be foreclosed upon pursuant to D.C. Code § 42-1903.13 ("Super-Priority Lien Statute"). The Super-Priority Lien Statute provides that the first sixmonths of the Association's lien is given priority over any first deed of trust that encumbers the property. D.C. Code § 42-1903.13(a)(2). Under common law foreclosure principles, in the event of a foreclosure on a super-priority lien, a first deed of trust is extinguished if the sales proceeds are insufficient to satisfy the lien. Chase Plaza Condo. Ass'n, Inc. v. JPMorgan Chase Bank, NA, 98 A.3d 166, 175 (D.C. 2014).

In or around 2013, Ms. Gaines failed to pay numerous monthly condominium assessments and, as a result, the Association recorded a notice of lien on March 7, 2014. Ms. Gaines failed to resolve the delinquency and on April 29, 2014, the Association recorded a Notice of Intent to Foreclose on its lien on the Unit. The Association conducted the foreclosure sale of the Unit on June 10, 2014. There were seven to ten bidders at the auction, and Tyroshi was the highest bidder that purchased the Unit for \$10,000 ("Condo Foreclosure"). JA 2088. At the time of the Condo

Foreclosure there was approximately \$364,000 owed on the Loan to Ms. Gaines, which was secured by the Unit. JA 953. A Trustee's Deed ("Trustee's Deed") was issued to Tyroshi on July 2, 2014, which Tyroshi recorded four years later on July 6, 2018. JA 941.

#### C. The State of District of Columbia Law at the Time of Sale

In June 2014, when the Unit was sold to Tyroshi, the import of a foreclosure sale conducted pursuant to the Super-Priority Lien Statute was unclear. On the date of the Condo Foreclosure, this Court had yet to issue its ruling in the seminal case *Chase Plaza Condo. Ass'n, Inc. v. JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.*, 98 A.3d 166, 172-176 (D.C. 2014), which held for the first time that a foreclosure under the Super-Priority Lien Statute extinguishes a first deed of trust. Prior to that decision, the effect of a super-priority lien foreclosure was unknown, and in fact, generally thought to carry with it the indebtedness on the foreclosed property. *Id.* This legal uncertainty existed at the time that Tyroshi purchased the Unit.

In the wake of *Chase Plaza*, this Court rendered several subsequent decisions further clarifying the application of the Super-Priority Lien Statute. In *Liu v. U.S. Bank National Association*, 179 A.3d 871, 878 (D.C. 2018), this Court held that a condominium association could not waive the super-priority status of its lien, and in *4700 Conn 305 Trust v. Capital One, N.A.*, 193 A.3d 762, 765 (D.C. 2018), this Court found that a foreclosure of more than six months of assessments owed retained its

super-priority status. More recently, in *RFB Properties II, LLC v. Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas*, 247 A.3d 689, 697 (D.C. 2021), this Court clarified the unconscionability analysis and held the sales price of super-priority lien foreclosures must be assessed on the conditions of the sale at that time. When evaluating a purchase price from a super-priority lien foreclosure that occurred pre-*Chase Plaza*, at a time when the import of the Super-Priority Lien Statute was uncertain, the purchase price must be evaluated as if the entire indebtedness on the property survived the sale. This ruling has since been expanded to also include sales that occurred prior to the Court's decision in *Liu* and 4700 Conn. See New Penn *Financial, LLC v. Daniels*, 319 A.3d 997, 1004-05 (D.C. 2024).

#### D. Ms. Gaines Defaults on the Loan

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