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

Tyroshi also argues that "any claim under the Federal Foreclosure Bar is also time-barred" because a six-year statute of limitations applies to Federal Foreclosure Bar claims and, according to Tyroshi, U.S. Bank, as Trustee brought its claims a few months after the six-year period concluded. *See* Appellant's Br. at 22-23.<sup>2</sup> As a preliminary matter, although Tyroshi argued below that U.S. Bank, as Trustee did not properly plead the Federal Foreclosure Bar, Tyroshi failed to argue that U.S. Bank, as Trustee's Federal Foreclosure Bar argument was untimely and, therefore, waived its right to challenge the timeliness of that argument. *See* JA 849-51; *see Gillespie v. Washington*, 395 A.2d 18, 21 (D.C. 1978) ("It is a well-established rule that a party who fails to raise an issue at trial generally waives the right to raise that issue on appeal.").

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Tyroshi contends that the statute of limitations began to run on April 29, 2014. Appellant's Br. at 20-22.

Regardless, U.S. Bank, as Trustee did not bring a claim under the Federal Foreclosure Bar and is therefore not subject to the six-year limitations period. JA 59. Instead, as the Superior Court concluded, U.S. Bank, as Trustee used the Federal Foreclosure Bar to bolster its quiet title claim. JA 2093. Indeed, U.S. Bank, as Trustee made several arguments in support of its quiet title claim (*e.g.*, unconscionability, failure to timely record under D.C. Code § 42-401, failure to pay assessments, property taxes, and insurance) and the Federal Foreclosure Bar was just one of those arguments. In sum, the Superior Court applied the correct statute of limitations and U.S. Bank, as Trustee's claims are timely.

- B. Tyroshi Waived Its Right To Challenge Jenkins Row's Absence From The Case And, In Any Event, Jenkins Row's Dismissal Is The Law Of The Case, And Jenkins Row Was Not An Indispensable Party To The Action Because It Has Never Claimed Ownership Of The Property.
  - 1. Tyroshi waived its right to challenge Jenkins Row's absence from the case.

"It is a well-established rule that a party who fails to raise an issue at trial generally waives the right to raise that issue on appeal." *Gillespie*, 395 A.2d at 21 (precluding appellant from raising arguments based on admiralty law on appeal because appellant did not raise any arguments related to admiralty law at trial). Tyroshi argues that the Superior Court should not have invalidated the Condominium Foreclosure Sale because Jenkins Row was part of that sale but was "absen[t] . . . from the case." But, heading into trial several years after Jenkins Row's dismissal

from the case, Tyroshi failed to object or raise Jenkins Row's absence as an issue in the case. JA 718-735 (Tyroshi failing to raise Jenkins Row's absence in the Joint Pretrial Statement). This appeal is the first time Tyroshi has raised the issue of Jenkins Row's absence. Tyroshi thus waived its right to argue that Jenkins Row's absence precludes the entry of a valid final judgment.

# 2. This Court already affirmed the dismissal of Jenkins Row from the instant suit; therefore, the law of the case doctrine bars Tyroshi from relitigating that issue.

Tyroshi has already litigated the issue of whether Jenkins Row should be a party to the case and lost at both the trial court level and on appeal; as a matter of law, Tyroshi cannot relitigate this issue. When this Court issues a holding, the holding becomes the law of the case and may not be challenged or raised again. *See Lynn*, 617 A.2d at 969; *Kritsidimas v. Sheskin*, 411 A.2d 370, 371 (D.C. 1980).

In *Lynn*, for example, a father and son filed a complaint for sale in lieu of partition and for an accounting. 617 A.2d at 969. Following dismissal of certain claims, the defendant, Peter Lynn, appealed. *Id.* at 968. This Court dismissed the appeal because Peter Lynn failed to comply with the Court's appellate rules. *Id.* The case proceeded on the remaining claims. After the trial court issued its summary judgment order, Peter Lynn appealed again, re-hashing his prior argument that he was denied procedural due process in proceedings in the Superior Court. *Id.* This Court dismissed Peter Lynn's second appeal, "conclud[ing] that dismissal of the

[first] appeal made final the order for partial summary judgment and barred further litigation . . . ." *Id.* at 966, 968. This Court explained that "[w]hen th[e] [first] appeal was dismissed . . . , that dismissal finally concluded appellant's right to challenge the order subsequently, and the judgment became final as to appellant upon disposition of the appeal" and that the "law of the case' principle precluded reopening the question." *Id.* at 969.

Similarly, here, Tyroshi is foreclosed from arguing that the Final Order should be reversed because Jenkins Row was an absent but indispensable party since Jenkins Row's dismissal is law of the case. On October 21, 2020, the Superior Court dismissed all claims against Jenkins Row. JA 2107. Tyroshi appealed and on March 8, 2023, this Court affirmed the Superior Court's Dismissal Order. *See Tyroshi Invs.*, *LLC*, 291 A.3d at 1106. That affirmance is law of the case on the issue of whether Jenkins Row's participation in the instant litigation. Tyroshi cannot relitigate this issue.

## 3. Jenkins Row did not need to be joined in the proceedings invalidating the Condominium Foreclosure Sale.

In any event, Jenkins Row was not an indispensable party. "Joinder of necessary parties is governed by Rule 19, which makes it clear that questions of compulsory joinder are to be resolved on the basis of practical considerations." *Raskauskas v. Temple Realty Co.*, 589 A.2d 17, 20 (D.C. 1991). To determine whether a party is indispensable to litigation, courts consider whether it can "accord

complete relief among existing parties," or if "the missing party 'claims an interest relating to the subject of the action' and disposing of the action in their absence may 'impair or impede [their] ability to protect [their] interest' or 'leave an existing party subject to a substantial risk of incurring double, multiple, or otherwise inconsistent obligations." *Staab v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.*, -- A.3d --, No. 23-CV-0492, 2024 WL 5081985, at \*5 (D.C. Dec. 12, 2024) (citing Super. Ct. Civ. R. 19(1)(1)).

Staab is directly on point. Id. This Court held that a condominium association was not a necessary party in a case, like this one, involving ownership of a condominium unit. Id. Wells Fargo initiated a judicial foreclosure action against the original owner of the unit and Sarah Staab, the purchaser of the unit at a condominium foreclosure sale. *Id.* The Superior Court concluded that the sale of the unit was barred by the Federal Foreclosure Bar, and was thus void, and granted summary judgment to Wells Fargo Bank on its claims for judicial foreclosure, declaratory judgment, and quiet title. Id. Staab appealed, arguing among other things, that the Superior Court abused its discretion by not joining the condominium association as an indispensable party. Id. This Court rejected Staab's argument, reasoning that "[t]he Superior Court was able to grant the relief Wells Fargo requested—a declaration that Ms. Staab's purchase of the property and deed were void "ab initio" and Wells Fargo was entitled to judicial foreclosure—without ordering equitable or monetary relief against the Residential Association." Id. This

Court also explained that Ms. Staab had not demonstrated that the condominium association claimed any interest in the related litigation and was not situated in such a position that disposing of the action in its absence might impede its ability to protect its interests or leave an existing party subject to inconsistent obligations. *Id.*; *see also Reverse Mortg. Sols., Inc. v. Moore*, Jr., No. 2014-CA-07660-R(RP), 2023 WL 3975088, at \*6 (D.C. Super. Ct. June 7, 2023) ("Defendant Liu's argument that the foreclosure sale cannot be invalidated without joining the Condominium Association is without merit. . . . [T]he Condominium Association is not an indispensable party under Rule 19 and the foreclosure sale can be invalidated.").

Here, Jenkins Row was not an indispensable party because Jenkins Row has no interest in the issues or the Property. The crux of the parties' dispute, and the subject of the Final Order, is the rightful ownership of the Property. JA 2087 ("This action involves a dispute as to the ownership of condominium unit located at 1931 Pennsylvania Ave, SE, Unit 366, Washington, D.C. 20003."). That dispute is exclusively between U.S. Bank, as Trustee and Tyroshi. Jenkins Row is merely the condominium association in which the Property is located. Jenkins Row has never claimed any ownership over the Property.<sup>3</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> To the extent that Tyroshi believed that testimony from Jenkins Row was essential to determining the rightful owner, Tyroshi had ample opportunity to subpoena Jenkins Row as a witness at trial (in fact naming a Jenkins Row as a trial witness), but ultimately chose not to do so.

### B. The Superior Court Correctly Held That The Condominium Foreclosure Sale Is Void Under The Federal Foreclosure Bar.

The Superior Court heard and considered all the evidence submitted at trial and determined that Fannie Mae owned the loan secured by the Property at the time of the Condominium Foreclosure Sale. JA 2091. Tyroshi has not pointed to any evidence controverting this factual finding, nor has it argued that this factual finding is contrary to the weight of the evidence. Consequently, Tyroshi's argument here are all technical: (1) U.S. Bank, as Trustee did not properly plead the Federal Foreclosure Bar, (2) U.S. Bank, as Trustee does not have standing to assert the Federal Foreclosure Bar, and (3) the Federal Foreclosure Bar does not apply as a matter of law. Tyroshi is wrong on all three fronts.

# 1. The Superior Court correctly held that U.S. Bank, as Trustee's Federal Foreclosure Bar argument was encompassed in its claims for quiet title and declaratory judgment.

This Court construes pleadings "to do substantial justice." *See Jaswant Sawhney Irrevocable Tr., Inc. v. D.C.*, 236 A.3d 401, 406 (D.C. 2020). This rule has been interpreted to reflect "a preference for the resolution of disputes on the merits, not on technicalities of pleading." *See Briggs v. Israel Baptist Church*, 933 A.2d 301, 304 (D.C. 2007) (quoting *Whitener v. Washington Metro. Area Transit Auth.*, 505 A.2d 457, 458 (D.C. 1986). A complaint "need not pin plaintiff's claim for relief to a precise legal theory," nor must a plaintiff offer an "exposition of his legal

argument." *Skinner v. Switzer*, 562 U.S. 521, 530 (2011). A "complaint relates back where 'the initial complaint put the defendant on notice that a certain range of matters was in controversy and the amended complaint falls within that range." *Hartford Accident & Indem. Co. v. D.C.*, 441 A.2d 969, 972 (D.C. 1982).

Here, the Superior Court correctly held that U.S. Bank, as Trustee's claim for quiet title necessarily encompasses arguments under the Federal Foreclosure Bar. Indeed, courts hearing Federal Foreclosure Bar arguments have repeatedly permitted mortgage servicers to raise these arguments without requiring that the statute be explicitly pled. *See NewRez, LLC v. Francis*, No. 22-CV-561 (APM), 2024 WL 4314016, at \*4 (D.D.C. Sept. 11, 2024); *Moore*, 2023 WL 3975088, at \*3.

For example, in *Francis*, plaintiff NewRez serviced the mortgage loan secured by a condominium unit and filed suit for declaratory judgment that a condominium foreclosure sale did not extinguish Fannie Mae's deed of trust, quiet title, and judicial foreclosure. 2024 WL 4314016, at \*1, 4. NewRez did not raise the Federal Foreclosure Bar as a separate count or claim; rather, it raised the statute to support its declaratory judgment and quiet title claims. *Id.* at \*5. NewRez moved for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Superior Court Rule 8 is modeled after Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 8; accordingly, this Court looks to federal cases interpreting the federal rule. *Tingling-Clemmons v. D.C.*, 133 A.3d 241, 246 (D.C. 2016) (citing U.S. Supreme Court authorities for D.C. pleading standards); *see Potomac Dev. Corp. v. D.C.*, 28 A.3d 531, 543 (D.C. 2011) ("The Superior Court has not prescribed or adopted any rule that modifies Federal Rule 8(a).").

summary judgment on each of its claims, which the trial court granted. *Id.* at \*9. In granting the motion, the court explained that plaintiff's claims for declaratory judgment and quiet title were "premised on federal preemption—namely, that the Federal Foreclosure Bar preempts the D.C. Condominium Act to the extent that Act permits a foreclosure sale to extinguish Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac's interest in a property without the FHFA's consent." *Id.* \*4. The court also explained that "[o]n its face, the Federal Foreclosure Bar prohibits the involuntary extinguishment of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac's property interests via foreclosure." *Id.* at \*5. It was irrelevant that NewRez did not specifically plead the Federal Foreclosure Bar in a separate count and the court granted summary judgment to NewRez.

Similarly, in *Moore*, the Superior Court granted summary judgment to the mortgage servicer, holding that a complaint seeking judicial foreclosure placed the validity of an earlier condominium foreclosure sale and the Federal Foreclosure Bar within "a certain range of matters." 2023 WL 3975088, at \*3-4. The Superior Court granted the mortgage servicer's motion for summary judgment, explaining that "a complaint "need not pin plaintiff's claim for relief to a precise legal theory," nor must a plaintiff offer an "exposition of his legal argument." *Id.* (citing *Skinner*, 562 U.S. at 530 and *Tingling-Clemmons*, 133 A.3d at 246). The Superior Court also explained that, by asserting the judicial foreclosure suit, naming the purchasers from the condominium foreclosure sale as defendants in the suit, and alleging that the

purchasers held title based on an invalid sale, plaintiff had placed the sale "within a certain range of matters" and that accordingly the Federal Foreclosure Bar legal theory related back to the original complaint. *Id.* at \*3.

As in *Francis* and *Moore*, here, the Superior Court correctly held that: (1) "[t]he claims and allegations set forth in the Intervenor Complaint encompasse[d] th[e] argument that challenges the validity of the foreclosure sale" and the Federal Foreclosure Bar argument merely "further[ed] U.S. Bank[, as Trustee]'s Complaint and claims for quiet title and a declaration that the Condominium Foreclosure Sale was invalid;" and (2) "[s]uch a theory was not required to be directly plead pursuant to Rule 8(8) and in fact, could not be plead, as this issue was not ruled upon until at least 2022 [when the D.C. federal district court issued its opinion in *M&T Bank v. Brown*, 2022 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 186688, at \*9 (D.D.C. Oct. 12, 2022)]." JA 2092.

Moreover, upholding the Superior Court's decision to permit the argument is required to do substantial justice. The Superior Court did "not find that such an argument prejudices Tyroshi since Tyroshi's representative testified that he knew of Fannie Mae's involvement and interest in this Property following the Condominium Foreclosure Sale and still chose not to pursue discovery." *Id.*; JA 1660:8-10 ("I believe it was Wells Fargo with Fannie Mae being a beneficiary or residual interest holder on the payment."). Because the Federal Foreclosure Bar argument is relevant to a proper decision on the merits of the case and excluding the argument would

result in a ruling based on a technicality, this Court must uphold the Superior Court's decision to permit the Federal Foreclosure Bar argument.

## 2. U.S. Bank, as Trustee has standing to assert the Federal Foreclosure Bar.

Because U.S. Bank, as Trustee did not raise the Federal Foreclosure Bar as a standalone claim (but rather an argument to support its quiet title claim), Tyroshi's lack of standing argument is a red herring and should be rejected. U.S. Bank, as Trustee, indisputably had standing to bring its quiet title claim. Moreover, at trial, Tyroshi failed to object to any questions relating to Fannie Mae's ownership. JA 2092 ("At trial, Tyroshi did not object to questioning or testimony pertaining to Fannie Mae and had an opportunity to cross examine U.S. Bank's witnesses."). Thus, Tyroshi has waived its challenge to the U.S. Bank, as Trustee's assertion of the Federal Foreclosure Bar as support for its quiet title claim. *Gillespie*, 395 A.2d at 21.

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